5-5-2017

Parks v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44291

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

This is a post-conviction case. The driving force behind this controversy is defense counsel's failure to investigate a critical issue. In the underlying criminal case Silas B. Parks was charged with first-degree murder and arson. He was accused of killing his wife, Sarah Parks, and their unborn child and burning the dwelling in which the deaths occurred. More than once Mr. Parks told his appointed defense counsel that he could not remember the occurrence of his wife's death. Without investigating the cause of the death of Sarah Parks, defense counsel advised Mr. Parks to accept a plea bargain which resulted in the imposition of a 20- to 40-year prison sentence. Forensic evidence undercutting the State's theory of the case was readily available to defense counsel, had they undertaken a duly diligent investigation of the cause of death. Mr. Parks seeks to have the plea bargain rescinded and his guilty pleas set aside in the underlying criminal case.

Course of the Proceedings Below

The underlying criminal case to this post-conviction matter is *State v. Silas B. Parks*, Latah County Case No. CR 2009-03162. R., Vol. II, p. 251. As stated above, that murder/arson case was resolved via plea bargain. R., Vol. II, p. 251-3. The judgment of conviction was entered on 3 August 2010. R., Vol. II, p. 252. This post-conviction matter was initiated on 12 September

2011. R., Vol. I, p. 19. Various pre-trial motions were filed; none were dispositive as to all issues. *See* R., Vol. III, pp. 494-501 and R., Vol. IV, pp. 727-729. The District Court held an evidentiary hearing on 8 February 2016 and 9 February 2016. R., Vol. VI, pp. 1178-1183. Mr. Parks's petition for post-conviction relief was denied *in toto* on 29 April 2016. R., Vol. VI, pp. 1267-1274. Judgment was entered against Mr. Parks by the District Court on 18 July 2016. R., Vol. VI, p. 1302. This appeal followed. *See* R., Vol. VI, pp. 1279 and 1303.

Concise Statement of the Facts

Factual Basis for Charges in Underlying Criminal Case. On 24 June 2009 Sarah Parks, age twenty-eight, died in Moscow, Idaho. R., Vol. IV, pp. 802-803 and 812. She was the wife of Appellant Silas B. Parks, then age twenty-five. R., Vol. IV, pp. 802 and 820. Sarah Parks was pregnant at the time of her death. R., Vol. IV, p. 814. Her body and that of her unborn child were found in the apartment residence of Mr. and Ms. Parks. R., Vol. IV, p. 820. The residence was burned following the death of Sarah Parks; the fire caused damage to the dwelling structure and to the body of the deceased. R., Vol. IV, pp. 813 and 820. An investigation of the deaths and of the fire began immediately. R., Vol. IV, p. 820.

Forensic Investigation by State in Underlying Criminal Case. On 26 June 2009 forensic pathologist Jeffrey M. Reynolds, M.D., conducted an autopsy of the body of Sarah Parks. R., Vol. IV, p. 812. He was called in by the Latah County Coroner, who is neither a

physician nor a forensic pathologist. R., Vol. V, pp. 921-922, 924, 929, and 949-950. Dr. Reynolds concluded that Sarah Parks was deceased prior to the time her remains were burned by the fire in the residence. R., Vol. IV, p. 812-813. His conclusion as to the cause of death was “probable suffocation or strangulation.” R., Vol. IV, p. 812.

Litigation of Underlying Criminal Case Prior to Plea Bargain. On 1 July 2009, one week after the death of his wife, Mr. Parks was charged by criminal complaint with two counts of murder in the first degree and one count of arson in the first degree. R., Vol. I, p. 87. Two attorneys were appointed to represent him. R., Vol. IV, p. 825; Tr., p. 291, L. 4 - p. 292, L. 14; and Tr., p. 328, LL. 6-19. Both attorneys participated in the defense of Mr. Parks at the preliminary hearing held on 25 September 2009. R., Vol. IV, pp. 824-825. At the conclusion of the preliminary hearing, the Magistrate Court bound over Mr. Parks on all three charges. R., Vol. V, p. 223, LL. 17-25.

The Magistrate Court admitted into evidence the affidavit of Dr. Reynolds stating that the cause of death was “probable suffocation or strangulation.” R., Vol. V, pp. 109-110 and 117-118; R., Vol. IV, p. 829. Dr. Reynolds did not testify at the preliminary hearing. R., Vol. IV, pp. 824-827. In binding over Mr. Parks on the three felony charges, the Magistrate Court held, “[T]he physical evidence upon examination was consistent with death by suffocation or strangulation, particularly the petechial hemorrhaging in the lungs of uh both — both Ms. Parks and her — and her unborn child.” R., Vol. V, p. 1045, LL. 4-8. The prosecutor had argued at the

close of the preliminary hearing, “[W]e know that she uh died by virtue of being strangled or suffocated.” R., Vol. V, p. 1038, LL. 7-8. Defense counsel were well noticed as to the State’s theory of the case, as well as to the forensic investigation upon which the State relied, and also of the impact of that evidence on a tribunal.

Absence of Forensic Investigation by Defense Counsel in Underlying Criminal Case.

Throughout the litigation of the underlying criminal case, the State’s theory of the cause of death of Sarah Parks was unchallenged by the defense team; no expert opinion was obtained to review the findings of Dr. Reynolds. Tr., p. 359, LL. 15-17; p. 312, L. 24 - p. 313, L. 11; and p. 367, LL. 5-12. One of the lawyers (“Defense Counsel One”) assigned to represent Mr. Parks determined upon reading the autopsy report of Dr. Reynolds that a defense expert in forensic pathology was necessary. Tr., p. 344, LL. 6-12. As between the two defense attorneys, Defense Counsel One undertook the job of finding a forensic pathologist for the defense of Mr. Parks. Tr., p. 310, L. 18 - p. 311, L. 7.

Defense Counsel One first contacted forensic pathologist Dr. Donndelinger. Tr., p. 331, LL. 5-10. Dr. Donndelinger was not provided with any specific facts Mr. Parks’s case. Tr., p. 366, LL. 12-18. At no time did Defense Counsel One obtain any opinions from Dr. Donndelinger. Tr., p. 366, LL. 19-21. Dr. Donndelinger’s professional services no longer included providing testimony, and so Defense Counsel One did not want to hire him. Tr., p. 331, LL. 9-10. The other lawyer on the defense team (“Defense Counsel Two”) never spoke with Dr.

Donndelinger. Tr., p. 310, LL. 18-22.

Defense Counsel One next contacted forensic pathologist Dr. Grey, who was described as a medical examiner for the State of Utah. Tr., p. 331, LL. 11-13. Dr. Grey was not provided with a copy of the autopsy report of the State's expert, Dr. Reynolds. Tr., p. 361, LL. 2-4. Dr. Grey was not told the content of the autopsy report. Tr., p. 366, L. 22 - p. 367, L. 4. Dr. Grey did not provide an opinion regarding Dr. Reynolds's autopsy report. Tr., p. 361, LL. 5-7. Defense Counsel Two never spoke with Dr. Grey. Tr., p. 311, LL. 3-7.

Defense Counsel One subsequently prepared a motion seeking permission to hire Dr. Grey to assist in the defense of Mr. Parks. Tr., p. 331, LL. 14-15. He never filed the motion. Tr., p. 331, LL. 15-16. Drs. Donndelinger and Grey were the only forensic pathologists contacted by defense counsel. Tr., p. 366, LL. 22-24. No forensic pathologist was hired. Tr., p. 367, LL. 9-10 and p. 312, L. 24 - p. 313, L. 1. No opinion by a forensic pathologist was obtained by the defense team. Tr., p. 367, LL. 11-12 and p. 313, LL. 9-10.

The Critical Need for a Defense Investigation of the Cause of Death. The State's murder/arson case against Mr. Parks was a circumstantial one. R., Vol. V, p. 1044, L. 15. No witness claimed to have seen Mr. Parks kill his wife. No witness claimed to have seen Mr. Parks set fire to the Parks' home. The State advanced no motive to explain why Mr. Parks would have wanted to kill his wife. *See generally*, R., Vol. IV, p. 824 - Vol. V, p. 1048 (transcript of preliminary hearing). In the circumstantial case against Mr. Parks, the State's forensic

investigation showing that Sarah Parks died by suffocation or strangulation was found by the Magistrate Court at the preliminary hearing to be one of the “compelling” and “undisputed” facts weighing against Mr. Parks. R., Vol. V, p. 1044, L. 11 - p. 1045, L. 10.

Mr. Parks told his lawyers more than once that he did not recall the event of his wife’s death. Tr., p. 130, LL. 1-6 and p. 144, LL. 14-22 (testimony of Mr. Parks); Tr., p. 306, L. 21 - p. 307, L. 8 (testimony of Defense Counsel Two), and Tr. p. 363, L. 14 - 20 (testimony of Defense Counsel One). Defense Counsel One determined his client’s claim of not remembering to be “bullshit.” Tr., p. 365, LL. 5-24. More than ten times Defense Counsel One communicated to Mr. Parks that Defense Counsel One disbelieved Mr. Parks’s assertions as to a lack of memory of the event of his wife’s death. Tr., p. 365, L. 25 - p. 366, L. 11. Before advising Mr. Parks to make the plea bargain (Tr., p. 133, LL. 10-11), neither defense attorney asked Mr. Parks if he had killed his wife. Tr., p. 149, L. 22 - p. 150, L. 2.

What a Duly Diligent Forensic Investigation by the Defense Would Have Revealed.

The conclusions and methods of the State’s forensic pathologist, Dr. Reynolds, were ripe for attack by a defense expert. As a part of the post-conviction process, board certified forensic pathologist Jonathan L. Arden, M.D., was hired to review the autopsy report prepared by Dr. Reynolds. Tr., p. 30, LL. 8-23. Dr. Arden has extensive qualifications including multi-year appointments as First Deputy Chief Medical Examiner in New York City and Chief Medical Examiner in Washington, D.C. *See* Tr., p. 10, L. 2 - p. 22, L. 23. As a forensic pathologist, he has

testified under oath over 800 times, generally on behalf of government entities. Tr., p. 22, LL. 5-17.

In addition to reviewing the autopsy report made by Dr. Reynolds, Dr. Arden also reviewed related documents in the underlying criminal case prior to forming an opinion about the findings and conclusions made by Dr. Reynolds. Tr., p. 31, L. 11 - p. 33, L. 23. Regarding the conclusions made by Dr. Reynolds as to the cause of death of Sarah Parks, Dr. Arden determined the following:

- “[T]he use of the petechial hemorrhages as indication of asphyxiation is actually entirely misplaced in this case.” Tr., p. 42, LL. 2-4.
- “[G]eneralizing the petechia [~~sic~~-petechial] hemorrhages to all forms of asphyxia is also a mistake. That's actually an outmoded concept that's been pretty much debunk[ed]” Tr., p. 45, LL. 4-6. “There's an outmoded concept that hypoxia or not having adequate oxygen during asphyxia was an alternative explanation for causing petechia [~~sic~~-petechial] hemorrhages which actually isn't true. And so, No. 1, ascribing petechia [~~sic~~-petechial] hemorrhages to all forms of asphyxia is inaccurate.” Tr., p. 45, L. 23 - p. 46, L. 3.
- “The petechia [~~sic~~-petechial] hemorrhages in this case that he relied upon were in locations that you don't get them based on strangulation.” Tr., p. 46, LL. 8-10.
- “You don't get petechia [~~sic~~-petechial] hemorrhages with smothering.” Tr., p. 46,

LL. 12-13.

- Dr. Reynolds's conclusions based on the blistering of the skin of the decedent are outmoded in the field of forensic pathology by "at least decades." Tr., p. 82, L. 25 - p. 84, L. 3.
- There is no support in the field of forensic pathology for Dr. Reynolds's conclusion that the decedent suffered a respiratory arrest prior to a cardiac arrest. Tr., p. 68, LL. 4-18. In over thirty years of practice, Dr. Arden had never seen another forensic pathologist draw such a conclusion. *Id.*
- By concluding that the cause of death of Sarah Parks was probable suffocation or strangulation, Dr. Reynolds muddled two different kinds of asphyxia and also failed to state a conclusion to a reasonable degree of medical certainty. Tr., p. 48, L. 21 - p. 49, L. 8. "[S]trangulation and smothering or suffocation are two different things." Tr., p. 50, LL. 3-4.
- The decedent's internal neck structures, including the hyoid bone, (a) were preserved despite the fire, (b) were analyzed at the autopsy, (c) were photographed in part, and (d) were found to be intact. Had they not been intact, that finding would have supported a conclusion of death by strangulation. Tr., p. 56, L. 15 - p. 57, L. 25.
- In this case there is "no positive evidence for either" strangulation or smothering/

suffocation. Tr., p. 49, LL. 16-18. *See also* Tr. p. 63, L. 21 - p. 64, L. 3 and p. 65, LL. 13-19.

- The cause of death in this case should have been stated as “undetermined” because of the absence of evidence on which to make a conclusion. Tr., p. 75, LL. 11-15.

See also Tr. p. 74, L. 16 - p. 76, L. 9.

In addition to the above, as to the methodology of the autopsy conducted by Dr.

Reynolds, Dr. Arden concluded the following:

- Dr. Reynolds failed to document photographically the findings described in his autopsy report. This type of photographic documentation is a required procedure for a forensic autopsy. Tr., p. 39, LL. 5-11. This failure extends to the petechial hemorrhages upon which Dr. Reynolds relied. Tr., p. 39, LL. 12-21.
- Dr. Reynolds formed his conclusions prior to having all of the evidence before him. Tr., p. 39, L. 22 - p. 40, L. 2. Specifically, Dr. Reynolds did not wait for the results of the toxicological examination of the decedent’s blood before making his conclusions about the cause of death. Tr., p. 81, LL. 13-21. This was “highly inappropriate practice.” Tr., p. 82, LL. 1-2.
- Dr. Reynolds failed to weigh any of the decedent’s organs, a standard procedure in any forensic autopsy. Tr., p. 34, L. 24 - p. 35, L. 4.

Dr. Arden testified at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing before the District Court on

8 February 2016. Tr., p. 5. His testimony was not rebutted at the evidentiary hearing by any physician or forensic pathologist. *Id.* At the evidentiary hearing Dr. Arden pointed out additional flaws in the autopsy report prepared by Dr. Reynolds, but the above list is sufficient to demonstrate what defense counsel could have learned about potential avenues for defending Silas Parks had they investigated the cause of the death of his wife.

The Plea Bargain. Having never obtained an expert opinion to verify or challenge the State's version of the primary victim's cause of death, defense counsel nonetheless advised Mr. Parks to make a plea bargain. Tr., p. 133, LL. 10-11. This recommendation occurred during the course of a mediation. Tr., p. 133, L. 20 - p. 133, L. 11. The mediation occurred on the same day as the change of plea hearing. *See generally* Tr., pp. 134-135. The 30 March 2010 plea bargain exposed Mr. Parks to a 40-year prison sentence. R., Vol. V, pp. 1065-1068 and Vol. VI, p. 1080. The plea bargain was made approximately six weeks before the 10 May 2010 jury trial was scheduled to begin. *See* R., Vol. VI, p. 1090. The bargain was that the State reduced the two counts of first-degree murder to two counts of voluntary manslaughter, and that the sentences for the deaths would run concurrently. R., Vol. V, pp. 1065-1068. The first-degree arson charge was not reduced, nor was its sentence constrained. *Id.*

Absence of Allocution. Prior to accepting Mr. Parks's guilty pleas at the change of plea hearing, the District Court did not require Mr. Parks to make an allocution explaining the acts he performed which constituted criminal conduct. R., Vol. VI, p. 1082, L. 2 - p. 1083, L. 11. Prior

to the change of plea hearing Defense Counsel Two told Mr. Parks that he would “get it so that I wouldn’t have to say any details at that date.” Tr., p. 134, LL. 21 - 25. The prosecutor and defense counsel appear to have made a deliberate plan to ask the District Court not to require an allocution as a part of accepting the guilty pleas. R., Vol. VI, p. 1082, LL. 11-19. Instead, at the change of plea hearing the prosecutor told the District Court that in the future “Mr. Parks will allocute as to the details.” R., Vol. VI, p. 1082, L. 13. The District Court questioned each defense counsel individually as to whether the defense would stipulate to the existence of a factual basis for the guilty pleas. R., Vol. VI, p. 1083, LL. 7-9. “Yes, Your Honor” were the identical replies from Mr. Parks’s attorneys. R., Vol. VI, p. 1083, LL. 10-11.

Pressures Perceived by Mr. Parks. Having made the plea bargain under which he could receive a 40-year prison term, Mr. Parks felt pressured to manufacture a “memory” of the event of his wife’s death. “My lawyers strongly suggested that I take the deal.” Tr., p. 133, LL. 10-11. Mr. Parks further testified at the evidentiary hearing, “. . . I really didn’t believe that I caused Sarah’s death. And then I felt pressured to do a plea bargain because I was going to be convicted no matter what, and then I felt pressured to add to my story to make it more in line with Dr. Reynolds’ [sic—Reynolds’s] report.” Tr., p. 137, LL. 1-6.

As stated above, Mr. Parks told his lawyers more than once that he did not recall the event of his wife’s death. Tr., p. 130, LL. 1-6 and p. 144, LL. 14-22 (testimony of Mr. Parks); Tr., p. 306, L. 21 - p. 307, L. 8 (testimony of Defense Counsel Two), and Tr. p. 363, L. 14 - 20

(testimony of Defense Counsel One). Mr. Parks testified at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing that he did not at the time of his underlying criminal case have any recollection of the death of his wife. Tr., p. 130, LL. 1-3. Mr. Parks also testified at the post-conviction evidentiary hearing that he does not now have any recollection of the death of his wife. Tr., p. 130, LL. 4-6. As stated above, more than ten times Defense Counsel One communicated to Mr. Parks that Defense Counsel One did not believe Mr. Parks. Tr., p. 365, L. 25 - p. 366, L. 11.

Defense Counsel One admitted to the following:

- “I want my client to admit it. When Silas said he couldn’t recall anything, I told him that Judge Brudie comes from the same cut of cloth as I do.” Tr., p. 364, LL. 12-15. *See also* Tr., p. 143, LL. 8-22 (describing counsel’s frequent statements that he and the judge had worked together as lawyers in the past).
- Defense Counsel One “absolutely” told Mr. Parks “over and over and over that an admission could be the difference between a long sentence and a short sentence.” Tr., p. 364, LL. 17-20.
- He told this to Mr. Parks at the mediation, before Mr. Parks completed the presentence questionnaire, and before the sentencing hearing. Tr., p. 364, L. 21 - 365, L. 4.

The Hazy Recollection. The Idaho Department of Correction presentence investigator did not receive Mr. Parks’s original responses written in the presentence questionnaire. Mr. Parks

completed a first draft of his responses to the presentence questionnaire and met with his attorneys to discuss his answers. Tr., p. 141, L. 16 - p. 143, L. 4. He was told that “there had to be something more.” Tr., p. 142, LL. 15-18. Mr. Parks explained his reaction as follows: “At that point when they were telling me there had to be more there, must be more, I was — I was sobbing, I was telling them I don’t know. They insisted and I — I eventually gave them what I thought they wanted to hear.” Tr., p. 144, LL. 18-22.

When Mr. Parks gave his attorneys what he thought they wanted to hear, he made a statement regarding having his hands on his wife’s throat. As will be explained next, at the evidentiary hearing the statement was described by Mr. Parks as “vague images” and by Defense Counsel Two as a “hazy recollection.”

Mr. Parks said he had “some vague images of my hands wrapped around her throat” even though he did not actually have such a memory. Tr., p. 144, L. 23 - p. 145, L. 11. After making that statement, Mr. Parks was given another presentence questionnaire which he then completed. Tr., p. 145, LL. 12-19. On this second version of his response to the presentence questionnaire, to describe the event of his wife’s death, Mr. Parks wrote, “What happened next, I’m not fully sure. I have a couple of vague images though I don’t know if they are real or if my mind is just trying to fill in the gaps with what I have been told.” Tr., p. 146, LL. 5-14.

At the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, neither Defense Counsel One nor Defense Counsel Two rebutted Mr. Parks’s testimony that his first version of the presentence

questionnaire was rejected and that he submitted his second draft to the Idaho Department of Correction. *See generally* Tr., pp. 290-373.¹

What Mr. Parks described as “vague images” Defense Counsel Two described as a “hazy recollection.” Tr., p. 307, LL. 9-24. The testimony at the evidentiary hearing was sharply contradictory as to when the “hazy recollection” statement was made by Mr. Parks. As set forth immediately above, Mr. Parks testified that the statement was made after the mediation but before his presentence questionnaire was given to the Idaho Department of Correction. Defense Counsel Two testified that the statement was made prior to the mediation. Tr., p. 308, LL. 9-16. Defense Counsel Two took notes at the meeting during which the “hazy recollection” statement was made; however, the attorney neglected to date his notes, and so the notes are not dispositive. Tr., p. 307, L. 25 - p. 308, L. 8.

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