7-31-2017

Parks v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44291

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

Additionally, while Dr. Arden emphasized that "in order to figure out why people died," one must rely not only on the medical findings but also the context provided by "history and circumstances relating to the death" (Tr., p.77, L.18 – p.78, L.8; p.90, Ls.7-24), Dr. Arden did not himself review the crime scene investigation reports, police reports, witness statements, or fire investigation reports (Tr., p.101, L.22 – p.103, L.10).

Parks' trial counsel testified that in light of this limited usefulness of Dr. Arden's report, his advice to Parks to take the state's plea offer would not have changed even if he possessed the information at the time he advised Parks. (Tr., p.322, L.16 – p.323, L.4.) Therefore, it is likely that trial counsel's advice to Parks regarding the plea offer would have also remained unchanged.

Even had Dr. Arden testified at a trial, the jury would have had to weigh his conclusions against those of Dr. Reynolds, who is a well-qualified board-certified forensic pathologist. In his 30-year career, Dr. Reynolds has conducted over 3,000 autopsies and has never been disciplined by the Board of Medicine or any other licensing board. (Exhibits, pp.50, 61-63.⁷) Dr. Arden, relied upon by Parks, quit his job as a chief medical examiner in Washington D.C. while under investigation from the Inspector General's Office. (Tr., p.103, Ls.17-22.) Among the ultimate findings of the investigation was that Dr. Arden's histology laboratory was not properly vented, waste chemicals were not properly stored and disposed of, and that there was no standardized procedure for autopsies. (Tr., p.103, L.23 – p.104, L.8.)

Considering the limitations of Dr. Arden's testimony, as weighed against the substantial evidence of guilt presented by the state at the preliminary hearing, Parks has failed to demonstrate Strickland prejudice, even assuming that trial counsel was deficient as alleged. This Court should therefore affirm the district court's denial of this claim.

II.

Parks Has Failed To Demonstrate That He Is Entitled To Relief On His I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) New Evidence Claim

A. Introduction

Parks, citing I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4), contends that he was entitled to post-conviction relief due to “newly presented material facts not previously presented

⁷ Exhibits in the appellate record are contained within the electronic file, “EXHIBITS.pdf.” Citations to page numbers of the “Exhibits” refer to the page numbers of this file.

and heard” which, Parks asserts, require a vacating of his convictions and/or sentence “in the interest of justice.” (Appellant’s brief, pp.41-45.) On appeal, Parks has failed to assign specific error to the district court’s denial with respect to this claim. (See generally id.) Parks has therefore waived this issue for appeal. Further, Parks has failed to preserve this issue for appeal because his corresponding I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) claim was bare and conclusory as presented to the district court, and because the expanded argument he now brings on appeal was not raised below. Finally, even if this Court reaches the merits of this claim, Parks has failed to demonstrate he is entitled to relief because the apparent “new evidence” of Dr. Arden’s report is merely impeaching and would not have probably produced an acquittal.

B. Parks Has Waived This Issue On Appeal Because He Has Failed To Assign Specific Error To The District Court

As discussed above, it is a well-settled tenet of appellate review that the “party alleging error has the burden of showing it in the record.” Akers, 156 Idaho 37, 320 P.3d 428. It is equally well-settled that the appellate court will not review actions of the district court for which no error has been assigned and will not otherwise search the record for unspecified errors. Hoisington, 104 Idaho at 159, 657 P.2d at 23. Moreover, “[a] party waives an issue on appeal if either authority or argument are lacking.” Freitas, 157 Idaho at 267, 335 P.3d at 607 (citing Zichko, 129 Idaho at 263, 923 P.2d at 970).

In this case, Parks has failed to assign any specific error to the district court regarding his I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim. (See Appellant’s

brief, pp.41-45.) In fact, Parks has failed to allege any district court error at all. Both the “Issues Presented on Appeal” and “Argument” sections of Parks’ Appellant’s brief assert only that Parks is entitled to relief under I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4), not that the district court erred in denying the claim or by failing to rule on it. (Id.) This Court should not conduct a blanket review of the district court’s findings and legal analysis in the absence of such assigned error.

Because Parks has failed to assign any error, let alone specific error, to the district court, he has waived this claim for consideration on appeal. This Court should therefore decline to search the record for unspecified errors and instead affirm the district court’s order dismissing Parks’ post-conviction petition.

C. In The Alternative, Parks Has Failed To Preserve This Claim In The Manner In Which He Now Raises It On Appeal

It is well-settled that Idaho’s appellate courts “will not consider issues not raised in the court below.” State v. Mosqueda, 150 Idaho 830, 833, 252 P.3d 563, 566 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing State v. Wheaton, 121 Idaho 404, 407, 825 P.2d 501, 504 (1992)). Additionally, bare or conclusory post-conviction allegations, unsubstantiated by any fact, are inadequate to entitle a petitioner to an evidentiary hearing and are subject to summary dismissal. Roman v. State, 125 Idaho 644, 647, 873 P.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 1994); Baruth v. Gardner, 110 Idaho 156, 159, 715 P.2d 369, 372 (Ct. App. 1986); Stone v. State, 108 Idaho 822, 826, 702 P.2d 860, 864 (Ct. App. 1985).

Idaho Code § 19-4901(a)(4) provides that a petitioner may seek post-conviction relief on the ground that “there exists evidence of material facts, not

previously presented and heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence in the interest of justice.”

Where a criminal defendant is convicted after a trial, “[t]he request for a new trial in a post-conviction proceeding based on newly discovered evidence [pursuant to § 19-4901(a)(4)] is the same as a motion for new trial subsequent to a jury verdict.” Whiteley v. State, 131 Idaho 323, 326, 955 P.2d 1102, 1105 (1998). In State v. Drapeau, 97 Idaho 685, 551 P.2d 972 (1976), the Idaho Supreme Court articulated the four-part test a defendant must satisfy in order to be entitled to a new trial based upon newly discovered evidence. That test requires a defendant to show that the evidence offered in support of his motion for a new trial: (1) is newly discovered and was unknown to the defendant at the time of trial; (2) is material, not merely cumulative or impeaching; (3) will probably produce an acquittal; and (4) failure to learn of the evidence was due to no lack of diligence on the part of the defendant. Id. at 691, 551 P.2d at 978. The burden to show that each of these criteria is satisfied rests with the movant. State v. Dopp, 129 Idaho 597, 605, 930 P.2d 1039, 1047 (Ct. App. 1996).

In announcing this four-part test, the Court cited Professor Wright’s text on Federal Practice and Procedure and specifically noted his comment, “after a man has had his day in court, and has been fairly tried, there is a proper reluctance to give him a second trial.” Drapeau, 97 Idaho at 691, 551 P.2d at 978 (citation omitted). “Motions for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence are disfavored and should be granted with caution, reflecting the importance accorded to considerations of repose, regularity of decision making, and

conservation of scarce judicial resources.” State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 144, 191 P.3d 217, 222 (2008) (internal quotations and citations omitted) (quoting State v. Hayes, 144 Idaho 574, 577, 165 P.3d 288, 291 (Ct. App. 2007)).

The state has found no case where an Idaho Appellate Court has determined whether the Drapeau standard, or some other standard, applies to an I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) post-conviction new evidence claim where the defendant pled guilty in the underlying criminal case, or whether such a defendant may even seek relief under that subsection. In this case, neither Parks, the state, nor the district court cited Drapeau or presented any analysis regarding the question of how, or if, Parks could demonstrate whether any newly discovered evidence in this case necessitated a vacating of his conviction or sentence “in the interest of justice.”

Instead, in his memorandum in support of his amended post-conviction petition, Parks described the basis of his I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) claim merely as follows:

Although the above analysis [with respect to Parks’ ineffective assistance of counsel claims] is sufficient to resolve this matter in favor of Mr. Parks on constitutional grounds rooted in the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, this reasoning set forth above applies with equal force in the context of Idaho Code § 19-4901(a)(4), and the entirety of the above analysis is incorporated herein.

(R., Vol. II, p.399.) Parks did not provide any additional analysis or argument with respect to this claim in his written closing argument following the evidentiary hearing. (R., Vol. VI, pp.1234-1235.)

Therefore, while the state presumes that Dr. Arden's report constitutes the "new evidence" Parks contends warrants a vacating of his judgment of conviction, Parks did not specifically identify such evidence to the district court or present argument explaining why such evidence entitled him to relief under I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4). Therefore, this claim, as presented to the district court, was bare and conclusory.

In its brief in support of its motion for summary dismissal, the state, like Parks, simply referred to its prior arguments regarding Parks' ineffective assistance of counsel claims in its response to Parks' I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim. (R., Vol. III, p.475.) In a reply brief submitted in support of its motion for reconsideration of the district court's partial denial of its motion for summary dismissal, the state again only briefly addressed the I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) claim, and stated that this claim "does not provide an independent basis for a post-conviction relief, but rather is a legal question to be considered only if the remaining issue [of Parks' ineffective assistance of counsel claims] is answered in the affirmative." (R., Vol. III, pp.583-584.) The state continued, "[i]f the [district] [c]ourt finds that Parks' trial counsel made a reasonable decision that made further investigation into the cause of Sarah Parks' death unnecessary, than the [I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4)] issue is moot." (R., Vol. III, p.584.) The state again only briefly referenced the I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) claim in its closing argument following the evidentiary hearing. (R., Vol. VI, p.1249.)

The district court did not analyze or specifically rule on Parks' I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) claim in either its order partially granting the state's motion for

summary dismissal or its final “Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law” order entered following the evidentiary hearing. (See R., Vol. III, pp.494-501; R., Vol. VI, pp.1267-1274.) In its order partially granting the state’s motion for summary dismissal, the district court stated that “the report authored by Dr. Arden presents evidence of a material fact not previously presented to the [c]ourt.” (R., Vol. III, p.498.) However, the court did not further analyze or rule on the I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) claim and instead made this statement only in the context of its analysis of Parks’ first ineffective assistance of counsel claim. (See id.)

Thus, it is apparent from the record that Parks presented his I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim only in a conclusory manner to the district court, and that the state and the court did not analyze the claim as a distinct ground for relief requiring its own analysis, but instead as a gateway through which Parks’ ineffective assistance of counsel claims must pass before he was entitled to relief.

On appeal, Parks presents his I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim in a somewhat expanded manner. (Appellant’s brief, pp.41-45.) Specifically, Parks asserts that I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) “is a broad grant of authority from the legislature [to] the judicial branch to ensure that justice is done in criminal proceedings in the State of Idaho.” (Appellant’s brief, p.43.) Parks additionally contends that he is entitled to I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) relief in this case because of “the failure by the defense counsel to duly investigate, Dr. Arden’s findings and conclusions demonstrating a bona fide defense, the unusual pressures placed on Mr. Parks by counsel, and the District Court’s failure to require a factual admission from

Mr. Parks at the change of plea hearing (at the joint request of the prosecution and the defense attorneys).” (Id.) Parks thus appears to interpret I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) as a catch-all provision granting the judicial branch broad authority to grant discretionary relief.

Parks failed to preserve this proposed interpretation of I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) for appellate review because he did not present it to the district court. By presenting his I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim to the district court in a conclusory manner, Parks deprived the court of the opportunity to consider the claim in the manner in which he now presents it on appeal. This Court should therefore decline to consider this claim.

D. Even If This Court Considers The Merits Of Parks’ I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) Claim, Parks Has Failed To Show He Is Entitled To Relief

Finally, in the alternative, if this Court chooses to reach the merits of Parks’ I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim, Parks has failed to demonstrate he is entitled to relief. First, the state disputes Parks’ contention that I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) constitutes a “broad grant of authority” that a court may wield in the flexible manner advocated for by Parks on appeal. Parks has cited no authority standing for the proposition that a I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim is subject to a standard any less restrictive than the Drapeau standard, and therefore, has waived this claim on appeal. See Zichko, 129 Idaho at 263, 923 P.2d at 970 (a party waives an issue on appeal if either authority or argument is lacking).

Instead, as the state noted above, it is well established that a post-conviction petitioner who was found guilty after a jury trial in his underlying criminal proceeding must satisfy the four-prong Drapeau standard to demonstrate that he is entitled to relief under I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4). See, e.g., Whiteley, 131 Idaho at 326, 955 P.2d at 1105; Rodgers v. State, 129 Idaho 720, 723, 932 P.2d 348, 351 (1996); Cootz v. State, 129 Idaho 360, 365-367, 924 P.2d 622, 627-629 (Ct. App. 1996); Grube v. State, 134 Idaho 24, 30-31, 995 P.2d 794, 800-801 (2000). There is no reason why a post-conviction petitioner who pled guilty in his underlying criminal proceeding, and who therefore waived his right to require the state to prove his guilt and to put on a defense, should be entitled to some more-forgiving standard than Drapeau.

However, even assuming, without conceding, that the Drapeau standard applies under these circumstances, Parks clearly could not satisfy this standard because Dr. Arden's report provided, at best, impeachment evidence, and because the report would not probably produce an acquittal.

The Idaho Court of Appeals has described the difference between impeachment evidence and substantive evidence as follows:

Unlike substantive evidence which is offered for the purpose of persuading the trier of fact as to the truth of a proposition on which the determination of the tribunal is to be asked, impeachment is that which is designed to discredit a witness, i.e. to reduce the effectiveness of his testimony by bringing forth the evidence which explains why the jury should not put faith in him or his testimony.

State v. Marsh, 141 Idaho 862, 868-869, 119 P.3d 637, 643-644 (Ct. App. 2004).

Evidence may be both substantive and impeaching. Id.

In this case, Dr. Arden's conclusions provided only, at best, impeachment evidence because he did not affirmatively set forth any alternative cause of death or cause of the fire. Instead, had these conclusions been utilized at a theoretical jury trial, they would have been offered only to attempt to discredit the conclusions of Dr. Reynolds.

Finally, the Dr. Arden report, even if it had been presented at a theoretical jury trial, would not probably have resulted in an acquittal. For this proposition, the state relies on its arguments, presented above, regarding the strength of the state's case and the limited defense value of Dr. Arden's conclusions.

Parks waived his I.C. § 19-4901(a)(4) new evidence claim because he failed to assign specific error to the district court, and because he failed to preserve the claim in the manner he now presents it on appeal. In any event, even if this Court reaches the merits of this claim, Parks cannot demonstrate that Dr. Arden's report satisfied the Drapeau standard. This Court should therefore decline to find that Parks is entitled to relief on this claim.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests that this Court affirm the district court's order dismissing Parks' petition for post-conviction relief.